ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is a witness’ identification of a defendant’s logo or name
inadmissible hearsay?

2. When a defendant destroys its invoices showing it sold a defective
good, what constitutes sufficient authentication of the secondary
evidence as to the invoices? [See, e.g., Evid. Code § 1523(b)].

INTRODUCTION

The central issue presented is: How do plaintiffs and prosecutors
identify a defendant?

Prior to the majority opinion below, California law was well-
settled that statements of identification are admissible as non-hearsay,
circumstantial evidence.

Thus, if a person witnesses a yellow “Acme” cab hit a pedestrian,
his testimony that he saw a yellow “Acme” cab provides circumstantial
evidence as to the identification of the perpetrator. [Brown-Forman
Distillers Corp. v. Walkup Drayage and Warehouse Co. (1945) 71
Cal.App.2d 795, 797-798].

If a fast food patron gets ill from a hamburger, her testimony that
she ate a hamburger wrapped in Jack-in-the-Box wrapping and contained
in a Jack-in-the-Box bag is circumstantial evidence as to the identity of
the restaurant. [Vaccarezza v. Sanguinetti (1945) 71 Cal.App.2d 687,
693].

If the police find utility bills with the defendant’s name on them in
the same apartment where they find illegal drugs, these invoices are
circumstantial evidence of the identity of the person who resides in this

apartment. [ People v. Williams (1992) 3 Cal.App.4th 1535, 1541-1543].
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Here, consistent with the above evidence—all held to be non-
hearsay statements of identification by our appellate courts—a foreman,
John Glamuzina, testified that he saw the logo “K” and the name
“Keenan” on invoices accompanying delivery of asbestos-cement pipe to
Plaintiff Frank Hart’s jobsite. The trial court held that this was non-
hearsay, circumstantial evidence that the identity of the supplier of the
asbestos-cement pipe was Defendant Keenan Properties, Inc.
(“Keenan”). In other words, it was some evidence that Defendant
Keenan supplied the asbestos-cement pipe to Mr. Hart’s jobsite, offered
in conjunction with other evidence that Keenan invoices always had its
signature “K” logo; Keenan always supplied invoices with the delivery
of its sales; and Keenan had entered into a contract with the asbestos-
pipe manufacturer to distribute its asbestos-cement pipe in remote
Humboldt County, where Mr. Hart was exposed to this pipe at his
jobsite. Notably, Keenan has destroyed its invoices, making the
admission of the actual invoices impossible. After a one month trial, the
jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiffs.

The majority opinion reversed the judgment against Keenan,
holding that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting
Mr. Glamuzina’s testimony that he saw the “K” logo or “Keenan” name
on the invoices. The majority opinion held that identification evidence,
such as Defendant’s name or logo, is inadmissible hearsay. And not only
that, the majority opinion also held that evidence as to a name or logo
falls within no exception to the hearsay rule, even if such name or logo
was a statement of a party opponent printed on Defendant’s own
document. The majority opinion thus eradicated two key evidentiary

principles: (i) evidence as to identification is non-testimonial, non-
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hearsay; and (ii) even if the statement of identification is deemed
testimonial hearsay, it falls within the hearsay exception of statements by
a party opponent. [See, e.g., Evid. Code § 1220].

Finally, the majority opinion compounded the evidentiary
conundrum by raising the bar on what is required to authenticate
secondary evidence as to documents that have been destroyed.

Without the evidence of identification as to the “Keenan” name or
“K” logo, the majority opinion held that there was not substantial
evidence to support the jury’s verdict that Mr. Hart’s exposure to
asbestos from Keenan-supplied asbestos-cement pipe contributed to
Mr. Hart’s risk of developing mesothelioma, and it reversed the jury’s
verdict.

The majority opinion, untethered from any California precedent, is
wrong.

First, the majority opinion erroneously overrides well-settled law
that statements of identification are non-hearsay. [See, e.g., People v.
Williams, 3 Cal.App.4th at 1541-1543].

Second, as the dissenting opinion holds, even if defendant’s name
or logo on defendant’s invoices was offered for the truth of the matter
asserted, this evidence is plainly admissible as a statement of a party
opponent. [Evid. Code § 1220]. The majority opinion presents a clear
conflict with well-settled authority [see, e.g., Jazayeriv. Mao (2009) 174
Cal.App.4th 301, 324-325], and provides no principled reason why
California should abandon this axiomatic evidentiary doctrine.

Third, the majority opinion erroneously ignores that the custom
and practice of always providing invoices with a logo on them—as was

the case here for Defendant Keenan—is sufficient to authenticate the
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secondary evidence as to the destroyed invoices. [See People ex. Rel.
Harris v. Sarpas (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1539, 1571].

The rule of law promulgated by the majority opinion—that a
witness may not testify as to a logo or name he saw—does not serve the
policy behind the hearsay rule of exclusion. Exclusion of hearsay
evidence protects the interests of a party by allowing the jury to assess
the credibility of the person making a testimonial statement, and further
by subjecting the testimony to cross-examination. [Morgan, Hearsay
Dangers and the Application of the Hearsay Concept (1948) 62 Harv.
L.Rev. 177, 188 (stressing the value of cross-examination in uncovering
errors in the declarant’s four testimonial qualities—language use,
sincerity, perception, and memory)]. But consider the witness who
testifies that he saw a “red light,” or a “bloody glove,” and may be cross-
examined as to his language use, sincerity, perception, and memory. This
is plainly permissible non-hearsay evidence from a percipient witness,
and is no different from the foreman who testified he saw the “K” logo
or the name “Keenan.” [See, e.g., 6 Wigmore, Evidence (Chadbourn rev.
1976) § 1791, p. 240 (“Utterances serving to identify are admissible as
any other circumstance of identification would be.” (original
emphasis))]. In both instances, the witness may be cross-examined under
oath, as the foreman was at length in this case, as to the accuracy and
sincerity of his perception and memory, thereby allowing the jury to
properly evaluate the reliability of the statements.

Nor does the majority opinion’s rejection of the statement-of-a-
party-opponent exception serve the policies underlying the hearsay
doctrine. Our Legislature created an exception for out-of-court

statements that were made by the party opponent, as defendant Keenan

13



did here by printing its “K” logo and “Keenan” name on its invoices.
[See Cal. Evid. Code § 1220]. One reason for this categorical exception
for party statements is that the lack of opportunity to cross-examine is
deprived of significance by the incongruity of the party objecting to his
own statement on the ground that he was not subject to cross-
examination by himself at the time. [2 Morgan, Basic Problems of
Evidence 226 (1961)]. Thus, “[flor statements of a party to be
admissible, there is no requirement they be subject to cross-examination
when made.” [Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Jensen (8th Cir. 1981) 667 F.2d
714, 722].

In sum, there is neither precedent nor policy supporting the
majority opinion below. Petitioners request that this Court overrule the
majority opinion reversing the trial court’s admission as to the testimony
identifying the “K” logo and “Keenan” name, and remand for the court
of appeal’s consideration of the remaining issues not yet addressed

below.
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. Mr. Hart was exposed to asbestos while installing asbestos-
cement sewer pipe in McKinleyville, California.

Mr. Hart worked for Christeve Corporation, a contractor who won
a public-works bid to install new sewer lines in McKinleyville
(Humboldt County) in 1976 and 1977. [9 RT 2427:18-25, 2431:24-
2433:3,2434:8-25,2438:12-17; 12 RT 3324:10-3326:24]. Mr. Hart’s job
was ‘“‘cutting asbestos-cement pipe;” he “installed thousands of feet of

the pipe” at the McKinleyville jobsite. [Opn. at 2; 12 RT 3344:1-13].

14



II. Keenan supplied Mr. Hart’s jobsite with asbestos-cement
pipe.

Keenan was a plumbing supply company. [13 RT 3685:13-
3686:2]. In the early 1970s, Keenan bought an existing Eureka facility
that stocked and distributed Johns-Manville asbestos-cement pipe. [§ RT
2207:4-2209:5]. Eureka is in Humboldt County [13 RT 3662:12-
3663:25]. Keenan’s Eureka facility was remote (“100 miles from
nowhere”). [8 RT 2207:4-2209:5]. However, Eureka was only 20
minutes away from Mr. Hart’s jobsite in McKinleyville, also in

Humboldt County.’

! Google Maps <maps. google.com>‘ [as of June 12, 2019].
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Through the purchase of the Eureka facility, Keenan obtained the
existing Johns-Manville product line, and continued to stock and
distribute Johns-Manville pipe. [8 RT 2207:4-2209:5]. Keenan supplied
asbestos-cement pipe to the City of Eureka and the County of Humboldt.
[8 RT 2207:4-2209:21; 13 RT 3363:6-3364:3].

In 1977, when Mr. Hart was exposed to Johns-Manville pipe in
McKinleyville, Keenan was in a distributorship agreement with Johns-
Manville to distribute its asbestos-cement pipe to “Humboldt County and
surrounding areas.” [13 RT 3673:11-3674:25, 3745:1-3]. Indeed, before
Mr. Hart started working on the McKinleyville job, Keenan had already
supplied the McKinleyville project with Johns-Manville pipe.
Specifically, the McKinleyville project was split into three phases, and
Mr. Hart’s employer Christeve won the bid for Phase 3. [9 RT 2434:8-
25]. The undisputed evidence shows that on an earlier project phase, won
by Christeve’s competitor Thibodo, the Johns-Manville pipe was
supplied by Keenan. [15 RT 3242:3-19; 13 RT 3711:17-3712:16
(admitted by Keenan representative Garfield)].

Keenan argues that Johns-Manville directly sold its pipe to the
McKinleyville project, but the only evidence of this is one invoice from
Johns-Manville dated November 8, 1976, which at best demonstrates
that Johns-Manville also supplied some asbestos-cement pipe to the
McKinleyville job. {1 AA 125].

III. Keenan always supplied invoices with its deliveries.

Keenan commonly employed a “direct sales” business model.
When a customer ordered Johns-Manville pipe, Keenan then bought the
pipe from Johns-Manville and arranged for its delivery (by either Johns-

Manville or a common carrier). [13 RT 3666:11-3667:9]. These “direct”
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sales were Keenan’s most common practice, saving inventory space and
manpower and thus reducing costs. [13 RT 3668:13-3669:1]. Under this
model, the Keenan invoices accompanying the delivery were critical —
the only way for the customer to identify and pay Keenan for the
delivery. [8 RT 2218:19-2220:1].

Keenan contends that asbestos-cement sewer pipe was historically
sold only by the manufacturer to the end user. [Answer to Pet. at 14]. On
the contrary, the testimony Keenan cites for this argument refers to the
fact that unlike sewer pipe (the McKinleyville job), Keenan did not
distribute “high-pressure water main pipe;” Keenan sold sewer pipe,
such as that to which Mr. Hart was exposed. [See Opp. at 14 (citing 8 RT
2228:2-14; cf. 9 RT 2431:4-23 (Ms. Mitrovich: all “sewer” pipe); 12 RT
3328:22-3329:10 (Mr. Hart: “new sewer line”), 3398:6-8

(Mr. Glamuzina: same)].

/117
/11
i
/11
/17
/11
/17
/111
/11

/17
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IV. All Keenan invoices bore the “K” circle logo.

Keenan’s corporate representative (Mr. Garfield) confirmed that
Keenan provided invoices that bore its distinctive Keenan logo. [13 RT

3706:18-23,3710:1-19]. This logo was a mark suggestive of pipes — the

product at issue — that were bent and arranged to form a capital “K”

within a circle, as set forth below [13 RT 3655:25-3657:4]:

[2141A; 9 RT 2463-2464].

‘ @ Keenan Supply

[Keenan’s Website <http://keenaneureka.com> (as of June 12, 2019)].

Keenan’s name recognition and trade logo—its signature “K”—
were valuable—e. g., sales volume of about $186,000,000 in 1981 alone.
[15 RT 3234:1-3235:21; 13 RT 3723:19-25]. And when Keenan sold its
name and logo to a third party in a 1983 asset sale, the buyer continued
to use that valuable name and Keenan “K” logo in trade. [§ RT 2206:3-
12; 13 RT 3698:14-18]. Keenan offered no evidence that its valuable
name and logo were ever infringed upon by a “copycat” user.

V.  Mr. Hart’s foremen identified the “K”’ logo and Keenan name
on invoices accompanying the asbestos-cement pipe deliveries.

Mr. Hart’s foreman on the McKinleyville project, John

Glamuzina, offered eyewitness testimony that the Johns-Manville pipe
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was delivered to the site with invoices bearing the Keenan logo “K” and
the word “Keenan.” [Opn. at 5-8; 12 RT 3404:13-15, 3415:17-20].

According to Mr. Glamuzina, he saw his crew lay over 4,000 feet
of Johns-Manville pipe at the site. [12 RT 3420:3-6]. Such pipe was
delivered to the site one flatbed trailer at a time, several times a week.
[Opn. at 2, 3; 12 RT 3344:11-19, 3416:21-3417:5, 3419:25-3420:6].
Mr. Glamuzina greeted many deliveries, checked the load against the
“invoices” provided with the delivery, signed the invoices, and returned
them to the front office at day’s end. [Opn. at 2; 12 RT 3400:19-3401:1,
3403:23-3404:7, 3413:9-3414:8]. Beyond the name “Keenan” and the
“K” logo, Mr. Glamuzina did not testify as to any of the contents of the
invoices, such as cost and amounts delivered. [12RT 3413:6-19]. He
testified that he checked the loads of pipe delivered to confirm that the
delivery matched what was represented on the invoice. [12 RT 3413:6-
19].

Mr. Glamuzina testified that he saw “the name Keenan on the
invoices that [he] personally signed.” [Opn. at 3, 6-8; 12 RT 3400:3-23,
3404:13-15, 3412:22-25]. The name Keenan “sticks out” in his memory
because of “their K” logo. [/d. at 8; 12 RT 3415:9-20]. He did not recall
any other suppliers on the invoices he signed. [Id.; 12 RT 3415:9-16,
3415:21-3416:2, 3420:11-15].

VI. Mr. Hart’s employer Christeve had a purchasing relationship
with Keenan.

Mr. Glamuzina’s recollection was supported by testimony from
Christeve’s 1970s bookkeeper, Olga Mitrovich. Although she did not
specifically recall whether Keenan supplied the asbestos-cement pipe to

Christeve on Phase 3 of the McKinleyville project [Opn. at 3; 9 RT
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2462:8-11], Ms. Mitrovich did connect Christeve directly to Keenan. She
recognized the Keenan name and distinctive “K” logo. [9 RT 2461:25-
2462:4, 2463:10-2465:22, 2505:21-2506:12]. And she recalled that
Christeve “dealt with” Keenan, recognized Keenan invoicing, and
recalled paying invoices with the Keenan logo. [/d.]

VII. Based on his personal recollections, Mr. Glamuzina testified to
his belief that Keenan supplied the pipe.

Mr. Glamuzina testified that he believed Keenan supplied the
Johns-Manville pipe to the McKinleyville project. [Opn. at 2, 6-8; 12 RT
3400:16-18, 3404:8-12, 3404:24-3405:3]. This belief was based on his
personal recollections that the pipe was delivered with “Keenan” (“K”)
invoices. [12 RT 3400:16-3401:1, 3404:8-15, 3412:22-25, 3413:9-19,
3415:9-20].

VIII. Invoices reflecting the relevant 1970s pipe sales were long ago
discarded or destroyed by Christeve and Keenan.

Mr. Glamuzina’s recollections could not be tested against the
actual invoices reflecting 1970s pipe sales, either sales to Christeve or
sales by Keenan. “Christeve wound up its business in 2001, and all of its
documents were destroyed in 2002.” [Opn. at 9; 9 RT 2445:2-19,
2447:7-16]. Likewise, “Keenan either disposed of all its documents or
transferred them to its successor in 1983,” and the successor testified that
if documents were transferred to it, they were destroyed. [Opn. at 9; 8
RT 2211:15-2212:13, 2213:19-2214:11, 2220:16-2221:16, 2234:3-8,
2239:23-2240:1].
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IX. The trial court held that evidence as to the “K” logo and
“Keenan” name on invoices was admissible non-hearsay.

Keenan moved in limine to exclude all of Mr. Glamuzina’s
testimony about the invoices that he saw with the pipe deliveries. [1 AA
060-070]. Specifically, Keenan sought an order excluding any “reference
to Keenan invoices by witness John Glamuzina™ on the grounds that the
invoices were unauthenticated and were hearsay. [1 AA 060] Keenan
argued that in the absence of physical copies of the invoices
Mr. Glamuzina saw, the invoices were incapable of being authenticated.
[1 AA 066]. And Keenan argued that invoices are necessarily hearsay
when offered to prove the truth of their contents. [1 AA 069]. Keenan
did not dispute that Mr. Glamuzina’s testimony that the invoices bore the
name “Keenan” was based on his own personal knowledge. [1 AA 069]

The trial court, the presiding judge for Alameda County Complex
Asbestos Litigation (Hon. Brad Seligman), denied Keenan’s motion on
three grounds:

1. Eyewitness testimony not “hearsay”’: The trial court first

ruled that Mr. Glamuzina’s eyewitness testimony about what he
personally saw is simply not “hearsay.” A “logo, emblem, or similar
designation of identity [is not] testimonial hearsay; rather, it 1s
circumstantial evidence of identi[t]y.” [Opn. at 9:1 AA 118]. A witness
“can testify he saw a name, or I'll even use the words a ‘brand’ on a
document.” [Opn. at 9-10; 4 RT 923:17-924:6 (witness can properly
testify that he saw a “yellow cab,” ora “hat that had a big letter onit,” or
a document with “a big K on it”)].

2. Party admission: Next, the trial court ruled that, even if

testimony about the “K” logo or “Keenan” name on an invoice was
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offered for the truth that Keenan created the invoice, these “statements”
were admissions of party-opponent Keenan and thus admissible under
the hearsay exception of Evidence Code section 1220. [Opn. at 12; 1 AA
118].

3. Authentication: The trial court also found sufficient

evidence to authenticate the secondary evidence as to the destroyed
invoices, including that Keenan’s corporate representative testified that
defendant Keenan always delivered invoices with its pipes, and that
Keenan invoices were marked with the “K” logo. [1 AA 118-119].

X. The jury found Keenan liable for contributing to Mr. Hart’s
exposure to asbestos.

After four weeks of trial, the jury made the express finding of fact
that “Mr. Hart was exposed to asbestos-cement pipe supplied by

Keenan:”

1. Was Frank Hart exposed to asbestos released from asbestos-cement pipe

suppli:?_y Keenan?
Yes No

If Yes, answer the next question. If No, the presiding juror should sign and date

this form and return it to the court attendant.

[2 AA 242].

The jury apportioned Keenan “17%” of the fault for causing
Mr. Hart’s mesothelioma. [Opn. at 4; 18 RT 5112:19-5127:2, 5132:18-
5133:19; 2 AA 242-246].
XI. In a2-1 decision, the majority opinion reversed,

In a split 2-1 decision, the court below reversed the judgment on
the jury’s verdict against Keenan, ruling that Mr. Glamuzina’s

eyewitness testimony should have been excluded.
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A. The majority held that identification of the logo “K”
and name “Keenan’’ was inadmissible hearsay.

The majority held that Mr. Glamuzina’s testimony that the
invoices were marked with a “K” or “Keenan” was “inadmissible
hearsay.” [Opn. at 1, 5, 9]. The majority held that the trial court abused
its discretion in finding that the “K” logo and “Keenan” name were non-
testimonial circumstantial evidence, and instead held that these
identifying factors “were out-of-court statements offered to prove the
truth of the matter asserted: namely, that Keenan supplied the pipes.”
[Opn. at 9].

The majority also rejected the hearsay exception for party-
opponent statements [Evid. Code § 1220], holding that the “declarant” of
the invoices was not the invoices’ creator (Keenan) but the person who
saw them (Mr. Glamuzina). [Opn. at 13].

Further, the majority held that the trial court abused its discretion
in finding sufficient evidence to authenticate Plaintiffs’ secondary
evidence as to the destroyed invoices, holding that “Glamuzina’s
testimony was insufficient” to do so. [Opn. at 16].

Thus, the majority held Mr. Glamuzina’s entire “testimony
regarding Keenan invoices” inadmissible. [Opn. at 16].

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