SUPREME COURT

JUL 2 5 2019

S253295

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FRANK C. HART and CYNTHIA HART,

Plaintiffs and Petitioners,

 \mathbf{V}

KEENAN PROPERTIES, INC.,

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, DIVISION FIVE, CASE NO. A152692, FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE ALAMEDA COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. RG16838191.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

W. JOSEPH GUNTER (SBN 170810) jgunter@cmbg3.com GILLIAM F. STEWART (SBN 260070) gstewart@cmbg3.com CMBG3 LAW, LLC 100 Spectrum Center Drive, Suite 820 Irvine, CA 92618 Telephone: (949) 467-9500 Facsimile: (949) 377-3355

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

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal correctly held that Glamuzina's testimony regarding invoices he last read in 1977 was hearsay without exception. Further, given the few details provided by Glamuzina regarding the alleged documents, the Court of Appeal appropriately found that there was insufficient evidence to authenticate the documents, the only evidence of which is Glamuzina's testimony. Plaintiffs sought review on both points.

I. Standard of review: abuse of discretion.

An appellate court reviews any ruling by a trial court as to the admissibility of evidence for abuse of discretion. (*Osborne v. Todd Farm Service* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 43, 50.) This standard of review

applies to the trial court's determination of whether proffered evidence constitutes inadmissible hearsay and whether evidence should be excluded in limine. (*Id.* at 50-51.)

- II. Glamuzina's testimony offered for the truth of the matter has no independent relevance as merely evidence of identification.
 - A. The *only* evidence offered by Plaintiffs to prove that Keenan was a supplier to Hart's work was inadmissible hearsay.

At trial, Plaintiffs presented deposition testimony from only one coworker witness, Glamuzina, stating that he signed "invoices" with the "Keenan" name that were purportedly for shipments of Johns-Manville transite pipe. Without dissent on this point, the Court of Appeal correctly found this was hearsay.⁵ (Opinion at 12; Dissenting Opinion at 19.)

⁵The Court of Appeal found only the single layer of hearsay. (Opinion at 12, fn. 5.) However, Keenan does not concede that what Glamuzina described were Keenan documents. Based on his testimony, it is equally plausible that the writing Glamuzina testified that he saw was a "delivery ticket" (see, e.g., Testimony of Olga Mitrovich, 9 RT 2442:2-24), "shipping manifest" (see, e.g., Plaintiffs' Opening Statement, 8 RT 2129:22-24, 2131:5-8), or a "shipping invoice," written by a third party common carrier (see, e.g., 1 AA 130-131, 138 for examples of "shipping invoices"). It is no more speculative that the documents described by Glamuzina were written by a third party as it is that they were written by Keenan. If they were written by a third party, the documents are double hearsay. The documents do not exist, so it is impossible to decipher who authored the documents or what

"Hearsay evidence' is evidence of a statement that was made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing and that is offered to prove the truth of the matter stated." (Evid. Code § 1200(a).) "Hearsay evidence is inadmissible, unless it falls under an exception. (Evid. Code § 1200(b).) Double hearsay is not admissible unless "each level falls within an exception to the hearsay rule." (*DiCola v. White Brothers Performance Products, Inc.* (2008) 158 Cal.App.4th 666, 680.)

Invoices, bills, or receipts are inadmissible hearsay, unless offered for the limited purpose of corroborating a witness's testimony." (Opinion at 8, citing Pacific Gas & E. Co. v. G. W. Thomas Drayage etc. Co. (1968) 69 Cal.2d 33, 42–43; Jones v. Dumrichob (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 1258, 1267.)

Glamuzina's belief that Keenan supplied the asbestos-cement pipe was based on his review of invoices or delivery tickets. The wording on these invoices or delivery tickets were out-of-court statements offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted: namely, that Keenan supplied the pipes. The invoices described by Glamuzina were hearsay.

they actually represented, both of which factor into the analyses of hearsay, authentication, and secondary evidence herein.

(Opinion at 9 [emphasis added], citing *Pacific Gas*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d at pp. 42–43.) The Court of Appeal did not equivocate in finding that Glamuzina's testimony regarding the disputed writings was hearsay:

B. Plaintiffs' argument that the "'K' logo and 'Keenan' name were non-hearsay circumstantial evidence of identity" is contradicted by the record.

Glamuzina *never* testified "that he saw the distinctive 'K' logo and 'Keenan' name on the invoices accompanying the asbestos-cement pipe deliveries to Mr. Hart's jobsite." (Petitioners' Brief on the Merits at 32.) Glamuzina *never* used the word "logo" or any synonym thereof to describe anything he saw on the disputed writings. Glamuzina *never* referred to the "K" as being "distinctive." While he testified that he saw "Keenan" on the writings, the reference to recalling a "K" was an ambiguous response as to how he recalls Keenan 40 years later:

Q. Why is it that Keenan sticks out in your mind?

A. Just the way the -- their K and stuff is all -- I don't know. Maybe it's through the years, maybe it's worked into my head. I don't know.

(12 RT 3415:17-20.) The record contains absolutely no explanation of what Glamuzina meant when he said, "their K and stuff." It is Plaintiffs' and the Trial Court's speculation that Glamuzina was referring to a "logo" with this testimony. (See, e.g., 1 AA118-119; 8

RT 2130:9-11 [Plaintiffs' Opening Statement: "And [Glamuzina] told them, he said, I remember the logo. I remember the K, the Keenan K logo..."].)

The only person who can tell us what was meant by "their K and stuff" is Glamuzina. Although Glamuzina was cleared by his physician to testify at trial via live video feed, Plaintiff counsel, also acting as Glamuzina's counsel, refused to agree to this method of examination.

(9 RT 2557:12-20.) Now Plaintiffs ask the Court to adopt their speculation as to what Glamuzina meant.

C. Glamuzina's testimony regarding Keenan invoices cannot be distinguished from hearsay based on the contents of a writing.

Glamuzina's testimony regarding the invoices was used to establish that Keenan supplied Johns-Manville asbestos-cement "transite" pipe to the McKinleyville jobsite. Without Glamuzina's testimony regarding these invoices, which Keenan contends never existed, Plaintiffs have no evidence that Keenan supplied asbestoscement pipe to Christeve at the McKinleyville job.

As the Court of Appeal correctly understood, Glamuzina's testimony was not offered for mere identification: "The information

Glamuzina observed on invoices or delivery tickets was an out-of-court statement used to show Keenan supplied asbestos containing pipes; the statement was offered for the truth of that matter." (Opinion at 10.)

Plaintiffs attempt to distinguish *Pacific Gas*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d at 42-43, by emphasizing that the alleged writings in that opinion were from a third party. (Plaintiffs' Brief at 33.) While this analysis may be relevant to finding an exception to the hearsay rule, the fact that the invoices were from a third party does not negate that invoices are inadmissible to prove that certain acts were done. (*Pacific Gas*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d at 42-43.)

The writings described by Glamuzina were not offered for the mere purpose of identity of the declarant, but to prove that Keenan sold and/or delivered the asbestos-containing "transite" pipe on the truck. Plaintiffs did not use Glamuzina's testimony regarding the purported writings to just prove identity. On appeal, Plaintiffs are attempting to repackage the evidence to suggest that the alleged writings are merely circumstantial evidence of identity. This belies the purpose to which Plaintiffs put the oral testimony regarding the writings to at trial. Glamuzina's testimony was offered as "direct evidence" to prove the

pipe on the truck was asbestos-containing transite pipe supplied by Keenan.⁶ (12 RT 3400:19-23.) On closing argument, Plaintiffs claimed Glamuzina's testimony that Keenan supplied thousands of feet of Johns-Manville transite pipe to McKinleyville as "direct evidence," adding "[y]ou don't need anything more than that." (17 RT 4833:4-14 [emphasis added].)

The disputed writings went beyond proving Keenan was present at the McKinleyville site (*see People v. Williams* (1992) 3 Cal.App.4th 1535, 1541-43), or that *a* company called "Keenan" was on the site (*see People v. Freeman* (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 488, 492). The facts for the cases cited by Plaintiffs have no similarity to the actual facts in *Hart* and do not apply by analogy.

In *Williams*, a fishing license and two checks bearing the defendant's name were found at an apartment where marijuana and cocaine were also discovered during the execution of a search warrant. (*Williams, supra,* 3 Cal.App.4th at 1537.) While the search was

⁶ The "invoices" were required for Glamuzina to opine that the pipe on the delivery trucks was asbestos-containing "transite" pipe. Without the invoices, Glamuzina lacked the foundational knowledge to provide expert opinion on the type of pipe observed. (*See People v. Chapple* (2006) 138 Cal.App.4th 540, 548.)

continuing, the defendant drove up and parked in front of the apartment. (*Id.*) The writings were admitted as nonhearsay circumstantial evidence that a person with the same name as the defendant resided in the apartment, "regardless of the truth of any express or implied statement contained in those documents." (*Id.* at 1542.) The court's conclusion in *Williams* was specific: "when introduced for the purpose of showing that residency, [the documents] are admissible nonhearsay evidence." (*Id.* at 1542-43.) Residency is not synonymous with identification.

The contents of the writings described by Glamuzina were a necessary component to proving Plaintiffs' assertion that Keenan supplied the pipe at issue. In other words, Glamuzina's testimony was not used for the single purpose of showing that Keenan was at the McKinleyville job site. Glamuzina was permitted to testify that he examined the contents of the disputed writings and double-checked the contents against what was supposed to be on the truck. (12 RT 3403:23-3404:2.)

Similarly, in *People v. Freeman* (1971) 20 Cal.App.3d 488, 492, a witness recounted hearing her daughter greet someone at the house

with the words, "Hi, Norman." The court found that, "the fact that the statement 'Hi, Norman' was made tended to prove circumstantially that one Norman had come to the house of a person associated with Foster, the alleged associate of Norman Freeman in the armed robbery." (*Id.*) Glamuzina's testimony regarding the writings cannot be carved out to a simple statement of identity; namely, that *a* company called "Keenan" had come to the McKinleyville site. Nor was this the actual purpose for which the testimony was offered at trial.

The writings described by Glamuzina were not offered for the mere purpose of identity of the declarant, but to prove that Keenan sold and/or delivered the asbestos-containing "transite" pipe on the truck. Glamuzina testified that the delivery truck driver "would have an invoice of his load, what he had on his load, and I'd double-check it." (12 RT 3403:23-3404:2.) As the Court of Appeal stated, one "cannot disregard the truth or falsity of the out-of-court statements at issue." (Opinion at 11.)

Plaintiffs contend that Glamuzina's testimony stands apart from the hearsay rule, asserting "[w]here 'the very fact in controversy is whether certain things were said or done and not . . . whether these things were true or false, . . . in these cases the words or acts are admissible not as hearsay[,] but as original evidence." (1 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (4th ed. 2000) Hearsay, § 31, p. 714.) In this case, the controversy encompasses not just "whether certain things were said or done," but also "whether these things are true or false." This Court held that invoices were inadmissible as hearsay with respect to the truth of whether certain acts had been done. (Pacific Gas, supra, 69 Cal.2d at 42.) Glamuzina's testimony regarding the writings was improperly admitted to prove the truth of whether Keenan supplied asbestoscontaining pipe to the McKinleyville job. The alleged writings are hearsay without exception.

D. The holding of Osborne v. Todd Farm Service required the Trial Court to exclude Glamuzina's hearsay testimony based on the contents of unauthenticated invoices.

In *Osborne*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th 43, the court addressed whether testimony based on the contents of an unavailable receipt constituted inadmissible hearsay. The *Osborne* plaintiff was a horse stable worker who was seriously injured while moving hay bales. She climbed to the top of a stack of hay bales to throw one of the upper bales down to the ground. "When she inserted hay hooks into the bale

to move it, the bale gave way, causing her to fall 11 feet to the ground."

(Id. at 45.) The plaintiff was severely injured in the fall, and neither the bale nor its strapping was preserved after the fall. (Id.)

Todd Farm Service ("Todd") sold and delivered the hay bale to plaintiff's place of employment. "Todd produced documents indicating that it purchased hay from three suppliers in the six months before appellant's accident. One of those suppliers is Berrington Custom Hay Stacking and Transport, Inc. (Berrington), located in Nevada. Todd's other suppliers are located in Southern California." (*Osborne*, 247 Cal.App.4th at 45.) Plaintiff alleged that Berrington manufactured the bale that injured her and sold it to Todd. (*Id.* at 46.) However, there were no documents or information from Todd indicating which supplier's hay bales were delivered to a particular customer. (*Id.* at 46.)

In addition to other testimony regarding the origin of the defective hay bale, plaintiff offered to testify that "she saw the delivery men with a receipt identifying Berrington as the supplier of the hay bales." (*Osborne*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at 47.) The plaintiff offered to testify that Todd's delivery person, who died before trial, told her the hay bales came from Berrington. (*Id.*) As in the instant matter, the

plaintiff in *Osborne* did not have the receipt. (*Id.*) There was only a single witness in *Osborne* who claimed to have seen the alleged receipts and no other documentary evidence regarding the receipt or supplier was produced by the parties. (*Id.*) The appellate court in *Osborne* held that "[t]his testimony was properly excluded as hearsay because appellant offered it to prove the truth of her assertion that the hay bale involved in her accident was supplied by Berrington. (Evid. Code, § 1200.)" (*Id.* at 52–53.)

Specifically, the *Osborne* trial court excluded the plaintiff's proffered testimony that she saw Todd's delivery person with a delivery "ticket" identifying Berrington as the source of the hay bale: "Writings, such as a delivery receipt, must be authenticated before they, or secondary evidence of their contents, may be admitted into evidence. (Evid. Code, § 1401.) Authentication means evidence that the writing is actually what its proponent claims it to be." (*Osborne*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at 53.) In upholding the trial court's decision, the appellate court found that plaintiff "did not possess the physical document to which her testimony referred" and no other witness claimed to have seen it, referring *specifically* to that ticket. (*Id.* at 53.) The holding in

Osborne directly applies to the facts of this case, requiring the exclusion of Glamuzina's hearsay testimony regarding the disputed writings.

E. The Trial Court misinterpreted *Osborne* when it denied Keenan's motion to exclude hearsay testimony.

Keenan similarly moved to exclude the hearsay testimony of Glamuzina based on his reading of invoices that were not produced, not authenticated, and seen only by Glamuzina over four decades ago. After extended oral argument, the Trial Court issued a written order denying Keenan's motion in limine in which it narrowly limited *Osborne* to the issue of discovery sanctions. (1 AA 117.)

The Trial Court's ruling disregarded precedent directly on point. The Osborne opinion is not limited to discovery sanctions. The Osborne court first reviewed the trial court's ruling excluding the plaintiff's proposed testimony that she saw a delivery receipt identifying Berrington as the source of the hay bales under an abuse of discretion standard. The testimony regarding the receipts and the delivery truck driver's statement that the bales came from Berrington were both "properly excluded as hearsay because appellant offered it to prove the truth of her assertion that the hay bale involved in her accident

was supplied by Berrington." (*Osborne*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at 52–53.)

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